RECEIVED

11-29-2013

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT I

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN**

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-vs-

BRIAN J. ANDERSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

Milwaukee County

Case No. 10-CF-004596

Appeal No. 2013AP000913-CR

**ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE DENNIS R. CIMPL,
THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. CONEN, AND
THE HONORABLE ELLEN R. BROSTOM, PRESIDING**

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Richard H. Hart
State Bar No. 1017217

HART LAW OFFICE
207 East Buffalo Street, Suite 201
Milwaukee, WI 53202

Telephone: (414) 271-1225
Facsimile: (414) 271-0457
E-Mail: rhart@rhart.com

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES.

Did the trial court improperly limit the Defendant's *McMorris* evidence?

Answered By The Trial Court - No

Defendant Asserts - Yes

Did the trial court improperly allow "Other Acts" evidence against the Defendant?

Answered by the Trial Court - No

Defendant Asserts - Yes

Was trial counsel ineffective in advising the Defendant that he did not waive his right to appeal *McMorris* evidence by not testifying?

Answered by the Court - No

Defendant Asserts - No

II. STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION.

The Defendant believes that oral argument is not necessary and the issues can be addressed adequately by briefing.

As to Publication, the Defendant believes that publication would be appropriate. The use of *McMorris* evidence (*McMorris v. State*, 58 Wis.2d 144, 205 N.W.2d 559 (1973)), while not common, is an important issue and usually arises in major homicide cases. The trial court has great discretion on picking and choosing what evidence is allowed in, but has to balance the rights of the defendant to present his/her case. Clarification of the role of the trial court in this regard would be advantageous.

III. STATEMENT ON THE CASE AND JURISDICTION.

The Defendant was charged in Milwaukee County with First Degree Intentional Homicide, Use of a Dangerous Weapon on September 20, 2010. (R-2) Attorney Steven Kohn represented the Defendant prior to and during the trial.

On September 16, 2010, the defendant Brian J. Anderson (hereinafter referred to as "Anderson") resided at 2372 North 58th Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin. He lived there with several other roommates, including the alleged victim, Joseph Hall (hereinafter referred to as "Mr. Hall") and Jason Hall (Mr. Hall's son). Anderson was a longtime associate and friend of both Mr. Hall and his son.

At the time of the shooting which is the subject of this matter, there was a person by the name of Marshall Provost (hereinafter referred to as "Provost") temporarily living in the property. At that same time, Anderson was dating a girl named Nikita McClain (hereinafter referred to as "McClain"). Anderson came to the belief that McClain was cheating on him with Provost. The record reflects a series of acts engaged in by Anderson to determine if, in fact, this was true.

According to the statement given by Anderson to the police, as well as his subsequent affidavit and his own testimony at the *McMorris* hearing, Anderson was convinced that Provost was cheating with his girlfriend. Therefore, on the day in question, he waited for Provost to come home. Anderson was going to confront Provost with a shotgun on the tip of which Anderson placed an empty milk jug. Further, as indicated in Anderson's statement, as well as at the *McMorris* hearing, it happened that Hall came home first. Hall noticed that Anderson was there with a weapon. A confrontation developed. Anderson indicated that he was fully aware of the dangerous

propensities of Mr. Hall, including allegations or statements made by Mr. Hall of past violent conduct including killing persons, beating up persons, etcetera. Anderson indicated that, even though he tried to get Mr. Hall to back off, Mr. Hall kept coming at him. Anderson indicated that, based on his knowledge and contact with Mr. Hall, he felt that he was in danger of great harm or death if Mr. Hall was able to get his hands on him and, therefore had no choice but to shoot. (R-49: -31; R-50: 1-53)

After Anderson's arrest, he gave a statement to the police, as has been indicated before, wherein he indicated that he shot Mr. Hall because he believed that he had no choice because Mr. Hall was advancing towards him and Anderson felt his life was in danger. Anderson based this belief on his knowledge of Mr. Hall, his violent past and conduct that Mr. Hall engaged in prior to and at the time of the shooting.

An appropriate motion *in limine* to introduce evidence of prior violent acts was filed by the defense regarding Mr. Hall's previous violent conduct. (R-6) The State filed their response (R-7) and there was an extensive *McMorris* hearing conducted by Judge Dennis Cimpl. (R-49 and 50) The defense laid out a substantial number of facts that Anderson indicated that he knew about Hall that led him to fear for his life. The trial court's ruling significantly limited the facts Anderson would be allowed to testify on at trial. (R-50: 69-72)

The State filed their own "other acts" motion to introduce testimony about an incident that occurred about three weeks before Mr. Hall was killed. (R-8) As outlined in the State's brief, they wished to introduce evidence that Anderson overheard McLain's landlord and two other men talking and heard the two men make sexual comments about McLain. The State claimed that Anderson took a pistol and then

confronted and assaulted the men who made the comments. The State believed this evidence went to his motive for killing Mr. Hall; the motive being jealousy over McLain. The State also claimed it showed jealousy, possessiveness and that he was capable of severely beating two men. The defense claimed that what the State wanted to show was not at issue at the time of the shooting. They also claimed that this involved different individuals other than the victim, was not relevant, was substantially prejudicial and was not applicable to the Defendant's self-defense claims. The court allowed in the "other acts" evidence with only a brief explanation. (R-53: 10-14) At trial, defense counsel again objected to the use of the "other acts" evidence, but his objection was overruled. (R-65: 78)

At trial, as Anderson indicated in his affidavit (R-34), Anderson did not testify. In giving up his right to testify, Anderson did not believe that he was effectively giving up his self-defense claim. Because the State chose not to use Anderson's statement in its case, there was no evidence or testimony in the record regarding why the shooting occurred, defense counsel could not argue self-defense in his closing. Anderson indicated that he did not understand that and was not advised of that fact. Had he been aware of that, he would have decided to testify. Ultimately the jury convicted Anderson of First Degree Intentional Homicide. (R-29) In the post-conviction hearing, the trial court made a determination that trial counsel was not ineffective.

IV. ARGUMENT.

A. THE COURT IMPROPERLY LIMITED ANDERSON'S MCMORRIS DEFENSE

Whether to admit or exclude evidence is within the discretion of the trial

court. On appeal, that decision is reviewed using the erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *State v. Jackson*, 188 Wis.2d 187, 196, 525 N.W.2d 739 (Ct.App. 1994). The appellate court will sustain a discretionary act of the trial court if it finds that the trial court: (1) Examined the relevant facts; and (2) applied the proper standard of law; and (3) using a demonstrated, rationale process, reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach. *State v. Gudenschwater*, 191 Wis.2d 432, 440, 529 N.W.2d 225 (1995).

Wisconsin Statutes §904.04 deals generally with character evidence, prohibiting evidence of character trait to prove that a person acted in conformance with that trait. Generally, Sec. 904.04(2)(a) prohibits introduction of specific crimes or other acts to show a person's character, but then carves out an exception to the prohibition when the acts are offered for a purpose other than proof of character. This is known as an "other permissible purposes" exception. The statute creates an exception to the prohibition for the character of the victim as follows:

(b) Character of Victim. Except as provided in Sec. 972.11(2), evidence of a pertinent trait of character of the victim of a crime offered by the accused or by the prosecution to rebut the same, or evidence of a character trait of the peacefulness of a victim offered by the prosecution in a homicide case to rebut evidence that the victim was the first aggressor.

When character evidence is permitted, Sec. 904.05, Wis. Stats., provides that the permitted method of proof is by: (1) Evidence of reputation in the form of an opinion; or (2) specific instances of the person's conduct when the character or trait is an essential element of the charge, claim or defense. (Sec. 904.05(2)) How all of this fits in to a claim of self-defense was detailed in the case of *McMorris*. In *McMorris*, the Supreme Court established the current rule that, when the issue of self-defense is raised in a prosecution for assault or homicide and there is a factual basis to support such a

defense, the defendant may, in support of the defense, establish what the defendant believed to be the turbulent and violent character of the victim by proving prior specific instances of violence within his knowledge at the time of the incident. When the defendant seeks to introduce such evidence to establish his state of mind at the time of the offense, it must be shown that he knew of such violent acts of the victim prior to the offense. *McMorris*, 58 Wis.2d at 152. Since the *McMorris* decision, a defendant's prior knowledge of the victim's character, either by reputation or specific acts, has been consistently held to be a prerequisite to an admission of such evidence as part of a self-defense claim. *Werner v. State*, 66 Wis.2d 736, 743, 226 N.W.2d 402 (1975). A defendant who establishes a factual basis for the issue of self-defense may testify as to his personal knowledge of prior specific acts of violence by the victim of the assault. *State v. Nevarro*, 2001 WI App. 225, §13, 248 Wis.2d 396, 636 N.W.2d 481. A defendant's state of mind at the time of an alleged offense is relevant to his claim of self-defense. Therefore, in order to introduce evidence at trial of a victim's reputation for violence or past violent acts, a defendant must establish that, at the time of the incident, he knew of that reputation or of those acts.

The basic specific details Anderson sought to be admitted (R-6) and the court's ruling are as follows:

a) That shortly after July 2010 and his moving in with the Defendant, Mr. Hall told the Defendant that he (Mr. Hall) killed his form drug partner sometime around 1985. The Defendant believes the former drug partner's name to be Randy Dunn. Mr. Hall elaborated by saying that he (Mr. Hall) owed Mr. Dunn money, and that there was a dispute between the two men about Mr. Hall's wife. Mr. Hall proceeded to describe going to Mr. Dunn's home, holding a gun to the back of Mr. Dunn's head, and pulling the trigger, thus killing Mr. Dunn. Mr. Hall referenced killing Mr. Dunn often to the Defendant during the time that Mr. Hall resided with the Defendant.

(Denied by the court)

b) That the Defendant believed that Mr. Hall killed Mr. Dunn because of the specificity of Mr. Hall's description of the murder, and because the Defendant believed that Mr. Hall's three sons, Chris Marinda, Jason Hall, and Matt Hall as well as a man named Marshall Provost, also had knowledge of the murder.

(Denied by the court)

c) That Mr. Halls son, Matt Hall, told the Defendant that Mr. Hall took medication to control his temper and violent outbursts. Further, the Defendant observed medications prescribed to Mr. Hall that the Defendant believed to be used for the aforementioned purpose.

(Allowed by the court)

d) That the Defendant was told that Mr. Hall, in a fit of rage aimed at his (Mr. Hall's) son Chris Marinda, lifted up the son's car while the son was in it and threatened to kill the son. The Defendant believes that Jason Hall and Matt Hall are also aware of this incident.

(Denied by the court)

e) That Mr. Hall told the Defendant that he (Mr. Hall) slashed another individual's throat during a robbery in 1985 or 1986.

(Denied by the court)

f) That Mr. Hall asked the Defendant if "God could forgive a few murders."

(Denied by the court)

g) That Mr. Hall told the Defendant that he (Mr. Hall) threatened some teenagers who were mocking his (Mr. Hall's) wife at a Dunkin' Doughnuts. Mr. Hall stated that he was brandishing a knife when he threatened the teens.

(Denied by the court)

h) That Mr. Hall told the Defendant that Mr. Hall threatened a man who mocked his (Mr. Hall's) wife, and that he used a shotgun to threaten the man.

(Denied by the court)

i) That the Defendant is both personally aware and has been told by others of other incidents of rage-based violence on the part of Mr. Hall.

(Denied by the court)

j) That Mr. Hall told the Defendant that he would kill his (Mr. Hall's) property manager and the property manager's family if he (Mr. Hall) was evicted from his flat on 68th and Clark.

(Allowed by the court)

k) That Mr. Hall told Matt Hall and the Defendant that he (Mr. Hall) would shoot his (Mr. Hall's) son Chris Marinda in the face if he (Mr. Hall) lost a lawsuit involving both himself and Mr. Marinda. During the same conversation Mr. Hall also threatened to kill his (Mr. Hall's) brother in law who was the individual suing Mr. Hall and Mr. Marinda.

(Allowed by the court)

l) That Mr. Hall would frequently speak to the Defendant of killing his (Mr. Hall's) employer when he (Mr. Hall) would become frustrated with his job.

(Denied by the court)

m) That Mr. Hall, in demanding that a friend of his son return some stolen jewelry, told the friend that "if I would kill my own son and get rid of the boy what makes you think I won't do the same to you." (R-49: 28)

(Denied by the court)

o) That Mr. Hall threatened a friend of his son about fourteen years earlier after Mr. Hall's son gave some stolen jewelry to the boy. (R-49: 26-27)

(Denied by the court)

The record reflects that the court arbitrarily denied Anderson the right to present most of his *McMorris* testimony while allowing bits and pieces of it. (R-50: 69-73) The reasons and distinctions for what was denied or allowed are not clear by any means. The court's decision was short and incomplete. The result was to gut Anderson's defense to his case. Yet, under the rules of the *McMorris* case and subsequent cases, the defendant has a right to present this evidence. The court seemed to engage in a credibility determination which was not appropriate.

The court went far beyond its duty in a *McMorris* issue by making a determination of remoteness; whether a gun was involved or not; denying Anderson the right to disclose that Mr. Hall admitted to Anderson that he (Mr. Hall) had murdered people; denying evidence because the specific date of the event was not known; making a credibility determination; and on and on and on. Making a general statement that a particular act is “too remote” is not an exercise in discretion. Rather, it is setting arbitrary cutoffs without any rhyme or reason. Yet, that is what the court did.

The issue of a *McMorris* hearing is to establish what specific character and/or actual traits the defendant knew of that formed the defendant’s state of mind at the time of the shooting. It is not the role of the judge to engage in a credibility determination of the evidence the defendant wants to submit or to determine that the evidence has to rise to a certain level or type before it can be discussed. Those determinations would have been fair game for the prosecution at trial. It was not appropriate at the motion level. Yet, that is exactly what the court did here. Because the court improperly limited a key aspect of Anderson’s defense, that defense was gutted and, thus, Anderson was denied a fair trial. The trial judge did not use a reasoned, rational process in denying or admitting what evidence could be used. It did not apply or follow relevant law. Instead, the trial court hopscotched through the evidence. It decided some was not credible. It decided some was too remote without explaining why. It decided some was not admissible because the victim did not have a weapon.

Whether the victim had a weapon at the time of his death is not a factor as to whether evidence of the victim’s violent tendencies should be admitted. Whether the victim’s statement about God forgiving a few murders is a philosophical question is not a

controlling factor on admitting *McMorris* evidence. Whether a victim's statement is a "hyperbole" is not a factor. This goes on and on. (See: App. B; R-50: 69-783) The court was simply wrong.

While the court allowed the other acts evidence in bits and pieces, it disallowed the major evidence upon which Anderson relied to establish the violent and dangerous tendencies of Mr. Hall. The court disallowed the historical and accumulated knowledge Anderson had of Mr. Hall. The court did all of this without sufficient reasoning and, thus, denied Anderson his defense.

B. THE COURT IMPROPERLY ALLOWED "OTHER ACTS" EVIDENCE AGAINST THE DEFENDANT

The appellate court reviews the admission of "other acts" evidence using the erroneous exercise of discretion standard as outlined in Section A. Other acts evidence is governed by Wis. Stat. §904.04(2). As laid out by the State, the evidence is admissible to show motive and absence of mistake or accident. *State v. Plymessenger*, 172 Wis.2d 583, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992). The three step other acts analysis is laid out in *State v. Sullivan*, 216 Wis.2d 768, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998):

1. Is the evidence offered for an acceptable purpose under Wis. Stat. §904.04(2)?
2. Is the evidence relevant?
3. Is the probative value of the other acts substantially outweighed by prejudice?

While this issue was not raised on the Defendant's Post-Conviction

Motion for New Trial and Request for Evidentiary Hearing it was fully briefed at trial and there are no factual disputes, hence the issue can be address on appeal. *Estate of Hegarty v. Beauchaine*, 2001 WI App 300 ¶¶ 11-13, 249 Wis. 2d 142, 638 N.W.2d 355. (R-8, R-9). The issue may also be addressed since it was previously raised and briefed before and a clear ruling was given by the trial court. Wis. Stat. §974.02(2).

Specifically, the court allowed the State to introduce evidence of an alleged beating that occurred approximately three weeks prior to the homicide. (R-8) The allegation is that Anderson, believing his girlfriend was having an affair, climbed on to the roof of her garage and listened to his girlfriend's landlord and two other men talking. He overheard them talk about the girlfriend in a sexual manner. It is alleged that Anderson then left. He returned with a pistol and pistol whipped the two men.

This incident was never reported to the police. This evidence was introduced through the testimony of Matthew Hall, son of the victim and friend of Anderson. Matthew Hall claimed that Anderson told him of the incident. (R-65: 72-76) McClain also alleged that Anderson told her about this incident. (R-66: 60-63)

Anderson contends that the court improperly allowed these "other acts" at trial. First because the evidence is not relevant under the *Sullivan* test. The prior incident does not overlap in fact and involves different victims than the conviction in this case. The evidence does not make the facts of the present case any more true or plausible. These are two separate and distinct incidents.

Secondly, Anderson contends that the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect on the jury. As the defense lays out in

its response brief and as we again allege here, the evidence should not have been admissible based on *State v. Gray*, 225 Wis.2d 39, 590 N.W.2d 918 (1998). (R-9: 2) In that case, the court addresses the fear that jurors will judge the defendant based on his prior alleged acts and not on the case at hand. The prior incident in this case was serious and certainly eye opening for the jury. That furthers the argument that its prejudicial effect was enormous. When witnesses testify at trial they normally do not have to reveal the nature of their prior criminal convictions because of its prejudicial nature. Allowing the earlier incident into evidence falls within the same line of thinking. In this instance we do not have a previous criminal conviction; however, the nature of the incident clearly creates a prejudice which is substantially outweighed by any probative value. The incident has nothing to do with any element of the crime and does not go to motive as the State contends.

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