#### **RECEIVED**

12-06-2013

## STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS C O U R T $\,$ O F $\,$ A P P E A L OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2013AP913-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BRIAN J. ANDERSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DENNIS R. CIMPL, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. CONEN, AND THE HONORABLE ELLEN R. BROSTROM, PRESIDING

## BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1009170 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Given the nature of the arguments raised in the brief of defendant-appellant Brian J. Anderson, the State exercises its option not to present a statement of the case. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a). The relevant facts and procedural history will be discussed in the argument section of this brief.<sup>1</sup>

#### **ARGUMENT**

Anderson was convicted following a jury trial of first-degree intentional homicide while using a dangerous weapon for the shooting death of Joseph Hall (29:1). He argues on appeal that the trial court erred when, in a pretrial ruling, it prohibited him from using some of the *McMorris* evidence he sought to introduce at trial to support his claim that he acted in self-defense. He also argues that the trial court erred when it allowed the State to introduce other-acts evidence relating to an incident that occurred three weeks before he shot Mr. Hall. Because neither of those claims has merit, this court should affirm the judgment of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>After briefing was completed in this appeal, Anderson filed a motion for leave to file a supplemental brief-in-chief. In an order entered on November 12, 2013, the court of appeals ordered that the briefs that had been filed be struck and that new briefs be filed. This is the State's brief in response to Anderson's new brief-in-chief.

conviction and the order denying postconviction relief.<sup>2</sup>

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT EXCLUDED SOME OF ANDERSON'S PROFFERED MCMORRIS EVIDENCE.

Prior to trial, Anderson filed a motion seeking permission to introduce evidence of Mr. Hall's prior violent acts and his "[a]ggressive, violent, [and] [t]hreatening character trait" (6:1-3). The trial court ruled that three instances of prior violent acts would be admissible (6:2; 50:69-72; A-Ap. B-2 to B-5), that one of Mr. Hall's prior acts would be admissible if the State opened the door by introducing Anderson's statement to the police (6:2; 59:6-7; R-Ap. 114-15),<sup>3</sup> and that the remaining eight instances would not be admitted (6:2; 50:69-72; A-Ap. B-2 to B-5). Anderson argues on appeal that the trial court erroneously

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Judge Dennis R. Cimpl presided over the pretrial proceedings and made the evidentiary rulings that Anderson challenges on appeal. Judge Jeffrey A. Conen presided over the trial and entered the judgment of conviction. Judge Ellen A. Brostrom presided over the postconviction proceedings and entered the order denying Anderson's postconviction motion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Anderson asserts that the court denied his request to admit evidence that Mr. Hall told Anderson that Hall "killed his form[er] drug partner sometime around 1985." Anderson's brief at 6. While the court did initially exclude that evidence (50:69; A-Ap. B-2), it later held that that evidence would be admissible if the State opened the door by introducing Anderson's statement to the police (6:2; 59:6-7; R-Ap. 114-15).

exercised its discretion when it excluded that evidence.

In its original appellate brief, the State argued that any error in excluding some of the McMorris evidence was harmless because there was no evidence introduced at trial that Anderson was acting in self-defense when he shot Mr. Hall and that without evidence placing self-defense into issue, there was no basis for introducing any evidence. The State *McMorris* noted Anderson had alleged in his postconviction motion that his trial lawyer did not explain to him that by waiving his right to testify, he was "in effect, totally giving up any defense that [he] had in the trial," including self-defense (34:2) and had further alleged that his trial counsel was ineffective for that reason (34:3). The State noted that Anderson had not argued on appeal that his trial lawyer was ineffective and asserted that he had, therefore, abandoned that claim.

In his new brief-in-chief, Anderson argues that if he waived the right to appeal the *McMorris* ruling by not testifying, his trial counsel was ineffective for advising him that his decision not to testify would not waive his right to appeal the ruling. *See* Anderson's brief at 14-16. In light of that resurrected claim, the State will forgo its argument that any error in partially excluding the *McMorris* evidence was harmless and will limit its argument to explaining why Anderson has failed to demonstrate on appeal that the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion.

#### A. Applicable legal standards.

Evidence of a victim's violent character and past violent acts is often referred to as *McMorris* evidence. See State v. Head, 2002 WI 99, ¶24 n.5., 255 Wis. 2d 194, 648 N.W.2d 413. The term "McMorris evidence" refers to McMorris v. State, 58 Wis. 2d 144, 150, 205 N.W.2d 559 (1973), a case in which the supreme court held that a defendant who had established a "sufficient factual basis to raise the issue of self-defense" should be allowed to submit evidence of his personal knowledge of prior specific acts of violence by the victim of his assault. See Head, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶24 n.5.

The admission of *McMorris* evidence "rests in the exercise of sound and reasonable discretion by the trial court." *McMorris*, 58 Wis. 2d at 152. When considering whether to admit *McMorris* evidence, "[t]he circuit court should exercise care that the evidence of specific violent acts of the victim not be allowed to extend to the point that it is being offered to prove that the victim acted in conformity with his violent tendencies." *State v. Daniels*, 160 Wis. 2d 85, 96, 465 N.W.2d 633 (1991). As the supreme court has explained:

The accumulation of evidence as to a particular violent act of the victim, which is within the knowledge of the defendant who alleges self-defense may go beyond the legitimate purpose of establishing what the defendant believed to be the violent character of the victim and reach the point where it is only offered to prove the victim acted in conformity with the prior violent behavior. It is the duty of the trial judge to exercise discretion in excluding evidence which is offered in such a manner. . . .

*Id.* at 96-97 (quoting *McAllister v. State*, 74 Wis. 2d 246, 251, 246 N.W.2d 511 (1976)).

A circuit court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is reviewed under an erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *State v. Ford*, 2007 WI 138, ¶30, 306 Wis. 2d 1, 742 N.W.2d 61.

### B. The trial court properly exercised its discretion.

Anderson has not shown that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion when it excluded some of his proffered McMorris evidence. One problem with his argument is that his description of the prior acts is taken primarily from the proffer he made in his motion in limine rather from his testimony (6:1-2)evidentiary hearing on that motion. That is important because the court based its ruling on Anderson's testimony, not the written proffer (50:69-72; A-Ap. B-2 to B-5). Indeed, when the court excluded the prior acts proffered paragraph h ("That Mr. Hall told the Defendant that Mr. Hall threatened a man who mocked his (Mr. Hall's) wife, and that he used a shotgun to threaten the man" (6:2), see Anderson's brief at 7), it did so because Anderson had not testified about that purported incident at the hearing (50:63).

Another problem with Anderson's argument is that he does not discuss the court's specific rulings on each of the items and present a developed argument as to why each of those rulings was wrong. He asserts that those rulings were "simply wrong" because "[w]hether the victim had a weapon at the time of his death is not a factor as to whether evidence of the victim's violent tendencies should be admitted" and

"[w]hether the victim's statement about God forgiving a few murders is a philosophical question is not a controlling factor on admitting McMorris evidence," Anderson's brief at 9-10, but makes no effort to explain those conclusory assertions or link them to a specific proffered prior act. The court should decline to consider Anderson's undeveloped arguments. See State v. O'Connell, 179 Wis. 2d 598, 609, 508 N.W.2d 23 (Ct. App. do 1993) ("We not consider undeveloped arguments").

One of the reasons the court excluded several items of the proffered *McMorris* evidence was their remoteness in time (50:69-70; A-Ap. B-2 to B-3). The evidence proffered in paragraphs a and b related to Hall's purported killing of a drug-dealing partner in 1984 or 1985 (6:2; 49:14). The evidence proffered in paragraph d related to an incident in which Hall purportedly lifted up his son's car while his son was in the car and threatened to kill his son; that incident occurred about fifteen or sixteen years before Anderson shot Hall (6:2; 50:53). The evidence proffered in paragraph e was that Hall told Anderson that in 1985 or 1986 Hall had slashed the throat of person who was attempting to rob Hall (6:2; 49:15-16).

The court also excluded on remoteness grounds evidence of an incident not mentioned in Anderson's motion but which Anderson testified about at the hearing. That incident involved a threat Mr. Hall purportedly made to a friend of Hall's son fourteen years earlier after Hall's son gave some stolen jewelry to the friend (49:26-27; 50:70; A-Ap. 70). The court also excluded the evidence proffered in paragraph g relating to threats made at a Dunkin' Donuts (6:2) because Anderson did not know when that incident occurred

(50:51, 69-70; A-Ap. B-2 to B-3). That incident happened at least ten years earlier because Anderson testified that he had known Hall for ten years and that Hall had told Anderson about the incident throughout the years Anderson had known Hall (59:3, 51).

Anderson argues that "[t]he court went far beyond its duty in a McMorris issue by making a determination of remoteness." Anderson's brief at 9. However, he cites no authority for the proposition that a court may not consider remoteness when determining whether to allow the defendant to introduce McMorris evidence. See State v. Pettit, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) ("Arguments unsupported by references to legal authority will not be considered."). More importantly, he is wrong. As a general rule, it is within a circuit court's discretion to decide whether other-acts evidence is too remote to be relevant. State v. Hunt, 2003 WI 81, ¶64, 263 Wis. 2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771. More specifically, the supreme court in *McMorris* quoted with approval a Delaware court's holding that the defendant's knowledge of specific acts of violence by the victim and the victim's general reputation for violence is admissible "subject, of course, to exclusion in a proper case for remoteness." McMorris, 58 Wis. 2d at 151 (quoting State v. Gordon, 181 A. 361, 362 (Del. Oyer & Term. 1935)).

In *State v. Boykins*, 119 Wis. 2d 272, 350 N.W.2d 710 (Ct. App. 1984), this court held that the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion when it excluded on the ground of remoteness evidence of prior violent acts of the victim that occurred less than one year before the charged offense. *See id.* at 277-78. In this case, in contrast, the excluded incidents purportedly occurred about

twenty-five years prior to the charged homicide (paragraphs a, b, and e), about fourteen to sixteen years prior to the homicide (paragraph d and the stolen jewelry incident), and at least ten years prior to the homicide (paragraph g).

Anderson's failure to present a developed argument is particularly glaring with respect to his contention that the court's ruling "gutted" his defense. Anderson's brief at 9. In this case, the court ruled that the following *McMorris* evidence was admissible:

- ▶ Paragraph c, that Mr. Hall's son told Anderson that Hall took medication to control his temper and violent outbursts and that Anderson had observed Mr. Hall taking prescribed medications that Anderson believed to be for that purpose (6:2; 50:69; A-Ap. B-2).
- ▶ Paragraph j, that Mr. Hall told Anderson that Hall would kill Hall's property manager and the property manager's family if Hall were evicted from his apartment (6:2; 50:70; A-Ap. B-2).
- ▶ Paragraph k, that Mr. Hall told Anderson that Hall would shoot Hall's son in the face and that he threatened to kill his (Hall's) brother-in-law because of a dispute and lawsuit that led to Hall's moving in with Anderson (6:2; 50:70; A-Ap. B-2).

In addition, while the court initially ruled that it would not allow Anderson to introduce the evidence in paragraph a that Mr. Hall told Anderson that Hall had shot and killed Hall's former drug partner in 1984 or 1985 (6:2; 49:14; 50:69; A-Ap. B-2), it later ruled that that evidence would be admissible if the State introduced

Anderson's statement to the police (6:2; 59:6-7). At the outset of the trial, the court confirmed that the three items of *McMorris* evidence were admissible and that the other item would be admissible if the State introduced Anderson's statement (62:5-7).

Anderson makes no attempt to explain why the court's ruling "gutted" his self-defense claim. The evidence in paragraphs c, j, and k related to recent alleged acts by Mr. Hall that, if believed by the jury, would demonstrate that Hall repeatedly threatened to kill people and that Hall required medication to control his temper and violent outbursts. The court also left open the possibility that evidence that Mr. Hall told Anderson that Hall had killed a man twenty-five years earlier could be admitted.

Anderson argues that the trial "seemed to engage in a credibility determination which was not appropriate" when deciding which evidence would be allowed. Anderson's brief at 8. The State agrees that it would not have been proper for the court to exclude McMorris evidence because it did not believe Anderson. However, the court made its comments about Anderson's credibility after it had ruled on each item of the proffered *McMorris* evidence, and the court said nothing about Anderson's credibility as it made its ruling item by item (50:69-72; A-Ap. B-2 to B-5). Moreover, the court's comment on Anderson's credibility was limited to its observation that it did not believe that Anderson was being truthful when he testified that he and Mr. Hall only discussed the prior incidents in the last thirty to forty-five days (50:71; A-Ap. B-4). The court expressed no opinion on whether Anderson was being truthful when he said that Mr. Hall had told him about the prior incidents; the court's skepticism was addressed to when Hall spoke with Anderson about these things, not whether he had.

As previously noted, the supreme court has cautioned trial courts that they should "exercise care that the evidence of specific violent acts of the victim not be allowed to extend to the point that it is being offered to prove that the victim acted in conformity with his violent tendencies." Daniels, 160 Wis. 2d at 96. The trial court in this case followed that admonition by allowing Anderson to introduce evidence of recent specific violent acts while excluding evidence of purported violent acts that occurred more than ten years before Anderson killed Mr. Hall and in some cases (paragraphs a, b, and e) twenty-five years earlier. Anderson has not shown that the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion when it excluded some of the McMorris evidence he sought to introduce at trial.

## II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT ADMITTED THE OTHERACTS EVIDENCE.

Anderson also argues that the trial court improperly allowed the State to introduce evidence that three weeks prior to the homicide, Anderson, believing that his girlfriend was having an affair, climbed on to the roof of her garage and overheard her landlord and two other men talking about her in a sexual manner (8:1). Anderson then went to his home, got a gun, and returned to his girlfriend's house, where he severely beat the men (8:2).

Anderson argues that the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion when it

admitted this evidence.<sup>4</sup> He contends that the evidence was not relevant because "Mr. Hall was not and had never been the target of Anderson's rage or jealously," Anderson's brief at 12, and that the prejudicial impact of this evidence outweighed its probative value because "[t]he incident has nothing to do with any element of the crime and does not go to motive as the State contends." *Id.* at 11-12.

Anderson's argument ignores the evidence, which the State discusses below, that links the shooting of Mr. Hall to Anderson's anger and jealousy stemming from his belief that another of his housemates, Marshall Provost, was having an affair with Anderson's girlfriend. Because Anderson has not shown that the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion when it admitted the other-acts evidence, this court should reject that claim.

#### A. Background.

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